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      Sydney Morning Herald, July 22, 1861, page 4.
So wrote John Augustus Hux in response to death threats he received as a consequence of his reporting of the anti-Chinese riots at Lambing Flat on June 30, 1861.[footnoteRef:1]  The statement indicates the character of a man who came to Australia in the early 1850s, and then spent most of the rest of his short life on the mid-nineteenth century colonial goldfields.  He was one of a number of reporters who wrote about the goldfields for the main city newspapers.  They wrote from their personal experience, providing valuable first-hand accounts of the goldfields.  Their personal stories are of as much interest as the ones they wrote.  Most have yet to be told. [1:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 22, 1861, page 4.] 

His Family Heritage
John Hux came from what appears to have been an established London family of craftsmen.  The oldest known ancestor, his grandfather, William Hux (1730-1780), was a ‘pewterer’.  Pewter, a tin alloy, was long used to make plates, dishes, and drinking vessels.  One of the older livery companies in the City of London, the Worshipful Company of Pewterers dates from 1348, its Charter being granted in 1474.  The industry reached its peak in the late seventeenth century and then declined, largely as a consequence of the new materials and products of the industrial revolution.  By the late eighteenth century, the Company’s numbers were small.[footnoteRef:2]  This may well explain why at least one of their children turned to another craft; Thomas Hux (1760-1825) became a watchmaker.  He married Elizabeth Hudson (1761-1843) in 1782, and they had eleven children, including John, who became a watchmaker. [2:  www.pewterers.org.uk ] 

John Hux (1792-1876) was born in Finsbury, and baptised at St Luke, Old Street, Middlesex, on February 5, 1792.  He married Jane Rodwell (1798-1835) on November 17, 1819, in Blandford Forum, Dorset.[footnoteRef:3]  They had at least six children, including John Augustus.  In 1828, he was recorded as being a watch maker in Brunswick Place.  Jane died about 1835, aged 37.  He subsequently married Marie Martha de Boos (1801-1885) on May 26, 1838: he was described as a ‘Watch Manufacturer’ and a ‘Widower’, and living at 41 Percival Street.  Marie Martha, a ‘Spinster’, was a daughter of Abraham and Marthe de Boos, and an aunt of Charles Edward de Boos.[footnoteRef:4]  By 1843, he was listed as ‘John Hux & Sons Watch Manufacturers’; eight years later, he employed three men.  He had moved to 10 Spencer Street, Goswell Road, where he remained for over ten years.[footnoteRef:5]  The Censuses of 1841 through to 1861 described him as a watchmaker; in 1871, he was listed as a ‘Jeweller’ and living at 10 Milton Street.  He died in 1876.  At the 1881 Census, Marie was described as a ‘Boarding Housekeeper’ and ‘Widow’, living with Louisa (1840-1920),[footnoteRef:6] her daughter by Hux, at ‘the abode of a secretary accountant and his family’.[footnoteRef:7]  Mary Martha died in October 1885, aged 83. [3:  The marriage record stated that John Hux was of the Parish of Blandford Forum and Jane Rodwell was of the Parish of Hampreston.]  [4:  There was also a more direct family relationship with Charles de Boos.  See Peter Crabb (2015): “’His life history may be told in a few words’: Charles Edward Augustus de Boos, 1819-1900”.  pp. 109-120 in A New Tapestry: Australian Huguenot families, edited by Robert Nash.  The Huguenot Society of Australia, Sydney.]  [5:  Post Office Commercial Directory, London, 1848, page 878, and 1851, page 812.]  [6:  The previous year, they had another daughter, Florence (1839-1843), but she only lived for four years.]  [7:  http://trees.ancestrylibrary.com/tree/25190412/person/1659018516 .] 

John Augustus was born on August 7, 1826; he was baptized at St James Clerkenwell, on August 4, 1828, on the same occasion as two of his younger brothers.[footnoteRef:8]  At the 1841 Census, John Augustus was living with his parents and four siblings in Clerkenwell and described as a watch maker.  But he was soon to leave the family business of watch and clock making to his brothers.   [8:  Some sources give his name as John Augustus Rodwell Hux.] 

Two of John Augustus’s younger siblings also have a small part in this story.  They were twins, Mary and Harry Rodwell, born in March 1830, in Hampreston, Dorset, a small village east of Wimborne Minster, where they were baptised on April 13, 1830.  Jane and her husband travelled from their home in Clerkenwell for the baptisms; Jane may well have been at her family home in Hampreston for the births.  Harry was living with his parents in Clerkenwell at the 1851 Census and working as a watchmaker.
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Figure 1.  From ‘Baptisms in the Church of England, Parish of Hampreston, Dorset Parish Registers’, Dorset History Centre, Dorchester.  Access through www.ancestry.com .
Migration and his Early Years in Australia
John Augustus Hux arrived in Melbourne on January 21, 1853, on the Catherine Mitchell, having sailed from Liverpool.[footnoteRef:9]  In August the following year, advertisements appeared in The Argus in Melbourne indicating that his sister, Mary, wanted to contact him and their brother Harry:  [9:  Public Records Office Victoria, Unassisted Passenger Arrivals, www.prov.vic.gov.au ; The Argus, January 22, 1853, page 4.] 

HUX. – If this should meet the eye of John Augustus or Harry Hux, send a line to your sister Mrs. Connolly, No. 129 Toy Warehouse, Old South Head-road, Sydney.[footnoteRef:10] [10:  The Argus, August 10, 1854, page 1; August 11, 1854, page 2.] 

Just when Mary and Harry arrived in Australia and where they landed is not known, but the lack of a similar advertisement in any Sydney paper suggest that she knew they were somewhere in Victoria.  Mary was living in Sydney and married to Matthew Connolly, who had a retail business on South Head Road.[footnoteRef:11] [11:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 9, 1864, page 8; he also ran a “Circulation Library”, Empire, August 12, 1852, page 2.  What became of Harry after this inquiry is not known, not is anything further known about Mary following the death of John Augustus in 1864 (see below). ] 

Just over three months after Mary Connolly’s advertisements had appeared, on November 29, 1855, a Mr. Hux arrived in Sydney from Melbourne, having sailed on the City of Sydney.[footnoteRef:12]  And in February 1858, an unusual notice appeared in the Sydney Morning Herald: [12:  The Empire, November 30, 1855, page 4.] 

I BEG to acknowledge the RECEIPT of Twenty-one pounds ten shillings and sixpence (£21 12s. 6d.) handed me by Mr. HUX and to return him and all parties subscribing to the same my sincere and grateful thanks for their kind assistance, after the fatal accident by which my husband was killed.  EMMA LAWRENCE, February 1st, 1858.[footnoteRef:13] [13:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 2, 1858, page 1.] 

In both cases, we might ask was the ‘Mr. Hux’ John or Harry?  And who was Emma Lawrence; what was her connection with ‘Mr Hux’; and what caused him to undertake this charitable task?  Emma’s husband may have been the Joseph Lawrence whose accidental death whilst at work was the subject of a Coroner’s inquest, at about the same time as Emma’s notice appeared.[footnoteRef:14] [14:  Sydney Morning Herald, January 30, 1858, page 5.] 

Hux the digger and writer
Victoria
Hux must have quickly become a gold digger, initially in Victoria.  It was not long before he was writing letters to newspapers about his goldfields’ experiences, and columns about the goldfields for the same papers (Appendix 1).  Some years after the time, he wrote that in the winter of 1854, he “was working on one of the principal [gold] fields in Victoria”,[footnoteRef:15] and in late 1858, he stated that he had “had four years’ experience as a gold-digger on the Melbourne side”.[footnoteRef:16]   [15:  “Reminiscences of a Gold-Digger” by J.A.H.  Sydney Morning Herald, April 20, 1861, page 2.  Given comments he made some years later when writing about the Lachlan Diggings, this could have been Ballarat, Sydney Morning Herald, November 29, 1861, page 4.]  [16:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 12, 1858, page 5.] 

In early 1860, two letters that Hux wrote from Back Creek in Victoria[footnoteRef:17] to a friend in Sydney were reproduced in the Sydney Morning Herald.  The first was titled ‘The Victoria Gold-fields’ (it did not present a very positive picture); the second, ‘The Gold Fields of New South Wales compared with those of Victoria’.[footnoteRef:18]  Also from Back Creek, he wrote a letter to The Age entitled ‘The decrease in the yield of gold’.[footnoteRef:19]  In a letter written later in 1860, he stated that he had “just returned from the Victoria gold-fields”, suggesting that he had had more than one extended period on the Victorian goldfields.[footnoteRef:20] [17:  Back Creek was near what is now the small town of Talbot, south of Maryborough, in Victoria: En.wikipedia.org/wiki/Talbot_Victoria : www.talbottourism.org/home/history.htm .]  [18:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 25, 1860, page 9; March 13, 1860, page 13.]  [19:  The Age, April 26, 1860, page 4.]  [20:  The Sydney Mail, September 1, 1860, page 3.] 

The Fitzroy
In October 1858, two letters on the ‘Fitzroy Diggings’ by John A. Hux, written from the home of his sister at 93 South Head Road, were published in the Sydney Morning Herald.[footnoteRef:21]  He could not resist another ‘dig’ (Figure 2)!  He wrote that on his arrival in Rockhampton, the initial reports were positive; upstream on the Fitzroy River, gold had been found at Canoona, and hardly anyone had returned from there to Rockhampton.  However, once at Canoona, he quickly realized that it was a very different story: [21:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 12, 1858, page 5; and October 13, 1858, page 5.] 
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Figure 2. Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2.  
In the morning I commenced a survey of the diggings.  The great rush had not yet taken place for we were only the second vessel that had arrived; - but I saw and heard quite sufficient to convince me that Canoona was no place for me.[footnoteRef:22] [22:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2.] 

Along with hundreds of others, Hux and his party found extremely little gold or nothing at all.  
In the two letters and a long article on ‘The Rockhampton Rush’, Hux wrote in some detail about the Fitzroy and the failure of the Rush, the dreadful conditions, food shortages, and the impacts on the many men who had made the fruitless journey north (Figure 3).  He also wrote of the costs to the shipping companies, who were unable to land their cargoes.[footnoteRef:23]  Hux’s letters were reprinted, in whole or in part, in a number of other newspapers.[footnoteRef:24]   [23:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2. ]  [24:  Maitland Mercury, October 14, 1858, page 2; Goulburn Herald, October 16, 1858, page 2; Hobart Town Daily Mercury, October 21, 1858, page 3; Darling Downs Gazette, October 28, 1858, page 3: and Perth Gazette, November 5, 1858, page 3.] 



[image: C:\Users\Peter\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Word\Capture HUX 3.png]
Figure 3. Sydney Morning Herald, October 12, 1858, page 5.
New South Wales
After his trip to the Fitzroy, Hux arrived in Sydney, “if not richer perhaps a wiser man”.  He then acknowledged another personal characteristic:	“The roving disposition once commenced, it is difficult to say when it will stop”.  So, when the “opportunity” arose, he was soon visiting the Maitland and Singleton district in the Hunter Valley.  However, he “saw nothing there worthy of notice except the roads”.[footnoteRef:25]  He spent Christmas Day, 1858, in Sydney; on New Year’s Day, 1859, he was on the Wonga Wonga sailing for Melbourne.[footnoteRef:26] [25:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2.]  [26:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2.] 

Later in 1860, when again back at his sister’s Sydney residence, Hux wrote three more letters, mostly about the New South Wales goldfields.  Two were published in the Herald, the first being about the goldfields in Victoria, New South Wales, and the Fitzroy.[footnoteRef:27]  The second was a long letter headed ‘The Gold-fields of New South Wales’, and it included comment on the Rev. W.B. Clarke’s 1851-52 report to the Colonial government.[footnoteRef:28]  The third letter was published in The Sydney Mail and headed ‘Gold Digging at the Snowy River’.[footnoteRef:29]  Early in 1861, he wrote another letter to the Herald entitled ‘The Chinese Question’, presenting the arguments for and against further Chinese migration.[footnoteRef:30] [27:  Sydney Morning Herald, August 27, 1860, page 3.]  [28:  Sydney Morning Herald, September 10, 1860, page 3.]  [29:  Sydney Morning Herald, September 1, 1860, page 3.]  [30:  Sydney Morning Herald, March 1, 1861, page 8; Sydney Mail, March 9, 1861, page 3.] 

Reminiscences
In 1860-1861, Hux wrote a number of fictional items, though he was at pains to point out that they were all based on fact.  He was identified as the author by the use of his initials, ‘J.A.H.’.  A series entitled ‘Reminiscences of a Gold-Digger’, was published in the Sydney Morning Herald in 1860, with a much shorter second series in 1861 (Appendix 2). One was very definitely factual, ‘The Rockhampton Rush’ being some of his experiences on a trip to the Canoona Goldfield (see above).[footnoteRef:31]  Some were re-published in other newspapers; in the case of The Age, there was no acknowledgement of the source, much to the disgust of ‘M.C.’, who called it “piracy” (Figure 4). [31:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 8, 1860, page 2. ] 
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Figure 4. Sydney Morning Herald, August 14, 1860, page 5.
Late in 1860, a serialized story by ‘J.A.H.’ appeared in the Sydney Mail, entitled ‘Emma Westan: a tale of Australia, founded on fact’.[footnoteRef:32]  In early 1861, two issues of The Sydney Mail contained a column entitled ‘Extracts from my Note-Book’ by ‘J.A.H.’.[footnoteRef:33]  [32:  Sydney Mail, October 27, 1860, page 3 (Chapters 1-3); November 3, 1860, page 3 (Chapter 4); November 11, 1860, page 2 (Chapters 5-7).]  [33:  The Sydney Mail, March 9, 1861, page 2 (Parts I and II); March 16, 1861, page 2 (Parts III, IV, and V).  All five parts were re-published together in the Sydney Morning Herald, March 18, 1861, page 2.] 

A Reporter for the Sydney Morning Herald
His letters, and the knowledge of gold mining he demonstrated, may well have contributed to him being employed by the Sydney Morning Herald as ‘Our Special Commissioner’.  It may also have had something to do with the family relationship with Charles de Boos; they may have met in Melbourne, Sydney and/or the Fitzroy Diggings, as they were both in these places at about the same times.  Hux’s first destination as the Herald’s ‘Special Commissioner’ was Kiandra. 
Kiandra
Kiandra is located at an elevation of some 1400 metres in the Snowy Mountains.  The long-ago glaciated country is isolated, exposed, stark, and being in a frost-hollow, almost treeless.  Even in summer, it can be very cold (Figure 5).  After European settlement, the country was used for summer grazing by sheep and cattle.  It was two graziers, David and James Pollock, who discovered gold in payable quantities in November 1859, in Pollocks Gully.  “People came from all over Australia and what had once been isolated grazing country suddenly became a boom town.  By March 1860 
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Figure 5. The site of part of the old town of Kiandra.  Source: Peter Crabb, October 9, 2014.
there were more than 10,000 people on the goldfields”.[footnoteRef:34]  The numbers included many Chinese.[footnoteRef:35]  It was a real ‘rush’.  “At its peak, the town comprised a bank, post office, 25 stores, 13 bakers, 16 butchers, 14 hotels, 4 blacksmiths, a courthouse, gaol, school and local newspaper”.[footnoteRef:36]     [34:  “Kiandra”.  http://www.smh.com.au/news/New-South-Wales/Kiandra ]  [35:  Lindsay M. Smith (2005): “Kiandra (New South Wales) (1860-1925)”. http://www.chia.chinesemuseum.com.au/biogs/CH00823b.htm .  Lindsay M. Smith (2003): “Identifying Chinese ethnicity through material culture: archaeological excavations at Kiandra, NSW”.  Australasian Historical Archaeology, 21, 18-29.]  [36:  The Historic Kiandra Goldfields.  NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service, Tumut; D.G. Moye (Editor) (1959): Historic Kiandra: a guide to the history of the district.  Cooma-Monaro Historical Society, Cooma.  Revised edition, 2005.  Klaus Hueneke (1987): Kiandra to Kosciusko.  Tabletop Press, Canberra, pages 16-22.] 

The Kiandra gold rush that began in March-April 1860, had been the subject of a number of reports, editorials, and letters in the Sydney Morning Herald in the first half of the year, with frequent reports by ‘Our Correspondent’, both before and after Hux arrived.[footnoteRef:37]  Hux, however, provided commentary as well as factual reporting.  His reports on the Kiandra gold rush appeared in the Herald from September 28, 1860, to January 14, 1861 (Appendix 2).  There were also two separate reports by ‘J.A.H.’.  Over the same period that Hux’s reports were published, other articles under the general heading ‘Alpine Sketches’ appeared in the Sydney Morning Herald and The Sydney Mail, that complemented his writings.[footnoteRef:38]  In addition, two official reports were written about the Kiandra goldfields.[footnoteRef:39]   [37:  For example, Editorial on the Alpine diggings, Sydney Morning Herald, March 17, 1860, page 4; “Winter at the Snowy River”, letter by ‘Stockman’, Sydney Morning Herald, March 19, 1860, page 2; Editorial, Sydney Morning Herald, March 22, 1860, page 4; ‘The Kiandra Diggings’, Sydney Morning Herald, June 5, 1860, page 5.  For a short period, from August 1860 through to sometime in 1861, a local newspaper was published twice a week, The Alpine Pioneer and Kiandra Advertiser.  Only a few issues from between August 24, 1860, and December 28, 1860, have survived. ]  [38:  Sydney Morning Herald: ‘Alpine Sketches from Kiandra’ (September 27, 1860, page 2); ‘Alpine sketches from Kiandra’ (October 18, 1860, page 8; Sydney Mail, October 27, 1860, page 2): ‘Alpine Sketches. Kiandra’ (November 5, 1860, page 5; Sydney Mail, November 10, 1860, page 2; Illawarra Mercury, November 6, 1860, page 3); ‘Alpine Sketches from Kiandra’ (November 30, 1860, page 8; Sydney Mail, December 1, 1860, page 4); and ‘Alpine Sketches’ (December 7, 1860, page 3; Sydney Mail, December 15, 1860, page 3).]  [39:  “Kiandra Gold-Fields. Report from P.L. Clorte, Commissioner in Charge of Southern Gold-Fields to the Secretary for Lands”, Sydney Mail, October 13, 1860, page 3; “The Kiandra Gold-Fields”.  Report by J.H.L. Scott, Sub-Commissioner at Kiandra during part of 1860.  Empire, January 30, 1861, page 2.] 

Hux wrote about the difficulties of getting to Kiandra; the township, which by mid-October was “already [beginning] to assume a very respectable appearance”; and the harsh living conditions, especially for those living in tents.[footnoteRef:40]  He wrote about the mining methods, essentially sluicing the alluvial deposits, and the various locations at which mining was taking place: Rocky Plains, Pollock’s  [40:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 11, 1860, page 10.] 
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Figure 6.  Kiandra and district.
Gully, Nine Mile, Four Mile, Surface Hill, New Chum Hill, Tantangara, the Tumut River (Figure 6).[footnoteRef:41]  Hux wrote at some length about various management issues, and the problems the Commissioners had as a consequence of them, as well as those they seemed to create for themselves;[footnoteRef:42] the fact that the nearest sittings of the District Court were 6 miles away in Cooma; and issues of ‘sly grog’ among the Europeans and opium among the Chinese miners.[footnoteRef:43] [41:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 20, 1860, page 4; Sydney Morning Herald, November 7, 1860, page 8; Sydney Morning Herald, October 27, 1860, page 8.]  [42:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 22, 1860, page 4.]  [43:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 22, 1860, page 4; Sydney Morning Herald, October 27, 1860, page 8; Sydney Morning Herald, October 17, 1860, page 5] 

The two articles with his initials attached present a somewhat different view of Kiandra.  A visit to the cemetery with its unmarked graves was a time for reflection on who they might be, as well as the story of one of those buried.[footnoteRef:44]  A somewhat tongue-in-cheek account of Kiandra, where he was still trudging through snow, slush and mud at the end of November, gives a picture of many buildings in a very poor state, unable to keep out the rain and snow.  He concluded the account of his ramble with the comment, “I think you will agree with a friend of mine, who said that one thing alone was wanted to make Kiandra perfect, and that was an earthquake”.[footnoteRef:45] [44:  ‘Graves at Kiandra’, Sydney Morning Herald, November 8, 1860, page 2; Sydney Mail, November 17, 1860, page 6; Launceston Examiner, November 10, page 2; Cornwall Chronicle (Launceston), December 15, page 2.]  [45:  ‘A Summer-day’s ramble through Kiandra’, Sydney Morning Herald, December 7, 1860, page 2; Sydney Mail, December 8, page 2.] 

There was one topic that appeared in almost all of Hux’s reports, the weather.  Many endured the cold and heavy snow falls of the 1860 winter; many were ill-prepared and living in canvas tents.  It was a harsh environment in which to live and work; even the daffodils planted by some of the original miners found it hard (Figure 7)!  Perhaps the hardest aspect of the weather to cope with was its variability from one day to the next, regardless of the season (Figures 8 and 9).  Nonetheless, there is a suggestion that some of the Chinese miners undertook some market gardening.[footnoteRef:46] [46:  Barry McGowan (2005): “Chinese market gardens in southern and western New South Wales”.  Australian Humanities Review, 36, July.] 
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Figure 7. On this exposed site, even the daffodils, descendants of those planted by the miners around 1860, are small.  Source: Peter Crabb, October 9, 2014.
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Figure 8. Sydney Morning Herald, November 27, 1860, page 3.  Lightning strikes on the telegraph wires often caused cuts to the telegraph services.
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Figure 9. Sydney Morning Herald, November 26, 1860, page 5.
While it lasted, Kiandra was a very productive goldfield; many miners did very well, including the Chinese.  For example, in one ten-day period, a group of miners had found a 12 lbs nugget plus 70 ozs of other gold.[footnoteRef:47]  The largely alluvial workings produced over 67,600 ozs in 1860 and 16,500 ozs in 1861.[footnoteRef:48]  Its decline seems to have been rapid, as significant quantities of gold were being sent to Sydney through to late November, and a 24-25 lbs nugget was found in early December.[footnoteRef:49]  By November, however, Hux was writing of people leaving for Crackenback (initially called ‘Crack-em-back’), a location of short-lived activities, and more particularly, many were leaving for Lambing Flat.  By mid-December, Hux wrote, “This place is getting quite deserted”.[footnoteRef:50]  It had been one of the biggest and shortest gold rushes in Australia.  Nonetheless, there were plenty of celebrations for Christmas and New Year, the latter including horse racing (Figure 10).[footnoteRef:51]   [47:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 13, 1860, page 7.]  [48:  D.G. Moye (Editor) (1959): Historic Kiandra: a guide to the history of the district.  Cooma-Monaro Historical Society, Cooma.  Revised edition, 2005.  There was at least one find of ‘auriferous gold’, Sydney Morning Herald, November 17, 1860, page 7.]  [49:  Sydney Morning Herald, November 17, 1860, page 10; Sydney Morning Herald, December 18, 1860, page 9
Sydney Morning Herald, December 5, 1860, page 4; Sydney Morning Herald, December 15, 1860, page 6. ]  [50:  Sydney Morning Herald, December 15, 1860, page 6; December 16, 1860, page 5.]  [51:  Sydney Morning Herald, January 2, 1861, page 5; Sydney Morning Herald, January 8, 1861, page 5] 
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Figure 10. ‘New Year’s Day Sports and Races’, Kiandra, 1861. Alpine Pioneer and Kiandra Advertiser, December 28, 1860, page 6.

Hux did not experience the massive snowstorm in late July 1860,[footnoteRef:52] which no doubt provided the impetus for an activity that gave Kiandra a world-first.  In that winter, skiing or snowshoeing was introduced by three Norwegian miners, Elias Gottraas, Soren Tor, and Carl Bjerknes.  Skis, or snowshoes, were essential to move about.  Soon, however, they provided a source of pleasure and, in 1861, Kiandra became the first place in the world to have an alpine ski club and to have ski races.[footnoteRef:53] [52:  Sydney Morning Herald, August 9, 1860, page 5.]  [53:  Norman W. Clarke (2006): Kiandra: from Gold Fields to Ski Fields.  Norman Clarke, Sydney.  Also 2006-2011 Supplement; Norman W. Clarke (2011): World’s First Alpine Ski Club.  Norman W. Clarke, Sylvania.  See also Sydney Morning Herald, August 12, 1861, page 2, copied from the Braidwood Observer.  Judith Hickson (2013): “Chinese skiers of Kiandra: objects and narrative”. reCollections, 8 (2). ] 

On January 8, 1861, Hux joined those leaving Kiandra for Lambing Flat.  Before doing so, he expressed his appreciation to those he had worked with, both Government officials and miners,[footnoteRef:54] and was the recipient of an unusual presentation (Figure 11).[footnoteRef:55] [54:  Sydney Morning Herald, January 14, 1861, page 5.]  [55:  Sydney Morning Herald, January 22, 1861, page 4; Sydney Mail, January 26, 1861, page 1.] 
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Figure 11. Sydney Morning Herald, January 22, 1861, page 4.
Lambing Flat
By the time Hux left, the Kiandra rush was over.  By early March, there were “not more than 200 diggers left”.[footnoteRef:56]  Hux’s destination was the same as most of the diggers leaving Kiandra, namely Lambing Flat (now known as Young) (Figure 12).[footnoteRef:57]   [56:  Sydney Morning Herald, March 6, 1861, page 5.]  [57:  ‘A trip from the Snowy to the Lambing Flat, from Our Correspondent’. Empire, February 7, 1861, page 2.] 

Gold was first discovered at Lambing Flat in March 1860.  Over the next few months, numerous other finds were made in the district, extending up to some twenty miles from the centre of the field at Lambing Flat.  Large numbers of diggers, European and Chinese, were attracted to the district; by late November, the population was at least some 3,000.[footnoteRef:58]  From very early in the goldfield’s history, it seems to have been a lawless place, with anti-social behaviour and robberies (not least of horses) common.[footnoteRef:59]  In November 1860, the first anti-Chinese actions occurred, with some 500 driven off their diggings: “John Chinaman was obliged to make himself scarce, and as soon as he was driven off the ground, all the tents were demolished in an instant.  We believe that no violence to the person was committed in getting rid of the pests”.[footnoteRef:60]   [58:  Ross Maroney (nd): A Short History of the Lambing Flat Gold Rusk 1860-1861: based on newspaper reports and letter of the time.  Young Historical Society Inc., Lambing Flat Museum, Young.]  [59:  www.goldtrails.com.au .]  [60:  Empire, November 22, 1860, page 8.] 
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Figure 12.  Lambing Flat.
Anti-Chinese sentiment and actions continued into 1861, and there were a number of large public meetings.  It was in this situation that another ‘Special Commissioner’ began reporting for the Sydney Morning Herald.  Who this was has yet to be determined.[footnoteRef:61]  With one exception, the reports were short, of a factual nature, with little comment.[footnoteRef:62]  Over the period from February to April, 1861, they provide an eye-witness account of the events that took place, in contrast to much misreporting, of the troubles between the European and Chinese miners, even from Government officials.[footnoteRef:63]  In late January, 1861, some 1,500 Chinese were driven off the land they were working, in defiance of the Commissioner and the police; there were so few police, that they were unable to do anything.[footnoteRef:64]  A petition against the “invasion of the Chinese” and wanting their removal attracted [61:  It was not James McCulloch Henley, as stated by Gavin Souter (Gavin Souter (1981): Company of Heralds: a Century and a half of Australian publishing by John Fairfax Limited and its predecessors. Melbourne University Press, Melbourne, page 58). Further, the passage quoted by Souter was not from Henley’s letter, but from the report by Hux. Henley, a Chinese interpreter, arrived in Lambing Flat from Victoria in late March 1861, at the request of the Chinese miners, who sought his help in their negotiations with the Government and its officials.  Sydney Morning Herald, March 29, 1861, page 4.]  [62:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 22, 1861, page 8.]  [63:  Goulburn Herald, January 9, 1861, page 2.]  [64:  Sydney Morning Herald, January 30, 1861, page 5; February 2, 1861, page 4.] 
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Figure 13. Sydney Morning Herald, March 6, 1861, page 4.[footnoteRef:65] [65:  The full Prospectus was published in The Miner and General Advertiser, March 6, 1861, page 1.] 

3,394 signatures.[footnoteRef:66]  The Miners’ Protective League made its position very clear (Figure 13); so too did the Sydney Morning Herald, in demanding the fair and lawful treatment of all miners, regardless of race, European and Chinese.  Even before the worst riots, in the words of the Editor, the Rev. John West,[footnoteRef:67] a Congregational minister, the persecution of the Chinese was unreservedly condemned,[footnoteRef:68] as was the inaction of the Government:  [66:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 19, 1861, page 6.]  [67:  West was editor of the Sydney Morning Herald, 1855-1873.  See Reynolds, John (1967): “West, John (1809-1873)”.  Australian Dictionary of Biography, Volume 2.  Melbourne University Press, Melbourne.  West was followed as Editor by Andrew Garran, and William Curnow, all non-conformist ministers (Souter 1981, 591-594).]  [68:  Souter 1981, pages 54-62; Sydney Morning Herald, July 5, 1861, page 5.] 

The long silence of the Government respecting the proceedings at Lambing Flat will be there interpreted one way – assent. The spirit which shrinks from any unpopular duty is one of the characteristic results of democratic ascendency.  It is in vain to appeal to the principles of justice – to the rights of humanity – the claims of law – the sanctity of public faith.  These are powerless before that cowardly spirit which cringes to the lowest of the people.  Could any civilised Government be found that wold not vindicate itself by declaring at the outset, and in decided terms, its determination to protect to the utmost of its means defenceless strangers, who have on their side right, humanity, and law.
The history of the Lambing Flat is an illustration of the brutal temper which prevails among the migratory bands of diggers.  We gladly distinguish them from a very respectable class, who have given to gold mining the aspect of a settled industry, and whose conduct has been honest and fair.  The Lambing Flat was discovered as a gold-field by the Chinese themselves.  They were entitled by law to settle there; they obtained and paid for the miner’s right; they were put in possession by the Government.  No one pretends they have forfeited that protection which any man who lives under the English flag has the right to expect.  The intruders, if any deserve the name where all have a defined and equal right, are the white men, for we will not disgrace our country by calling them Englishmen.  The Chinese have been ejected, and robbed are their legal rights – driven off the ground, and exposed to want and starvation.  And all this has been done in an “orderly manner” forsooth!  We are told there is no violence – no one has been attacked – they have only been driven off! [footnoteRef:69] [69:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 11, 1861, page 4.  See also Sydney Morning Herald, February 9, 1861, page 7, in ‘Notes of the Week’.] 

Petitions for compensation by the Chinese for losses from the riots that occurred in January and February 1861, provided them with little joy.  A Government Inquiry by William Campbell of Burrowa, into the claims could well be described as a whitewash: “the destruction of property on the occasion of the removal of the Chinese from Lambing Flat on 27th January and 17th February 1861, was very trifling, and that the claims hereinbefore referred to are altogether fraudulent”.  Further, Henley’s support of one claim was dismissed, Campbell stating that Henley “must have been labouring under an excited imagination”.[footnoteRef:70] [70:  “Aggressions on Chinese. (Compensation Claimed for Losses Sustained during Riots at Burrangong Gold Fields.)”.  NSW Votes and Proceedings of the Legislative Assembly, 1862, Volume IV, pages 9-27.  Government Printer, Sydney. Sydney Morning Herald, November 11, 1862, page 2; October 12, 1861, page 7.] 

Hux took much longer to reach Lambing Flat than did most of the diggers who had left Kiandra.  In his second report from Lambing Flat, he wrote:
In leaving Kiandra some two months since I little thought that circumstances would have prevented my arrival here for nearly two months. … I have been here so short a time.[footnoteRef:71] [71:  Sydney Morning Herald, April 9, 1861, page 3.] 

What the “circumstances” were, he did not say.  
For almost a year, from April 1861, to March 1862, Hux wrote over seventy-five reports from Lambing Flat as the Herald’s ‘Special Commissioner’ (Appendix 4).  His first report was a detailed account of the ‘Great Monster Meeting on the Chinese Question’.[footnoteRef:72]  It was the first of many meetings, acts of violence, and riots against the Chinese that Hux reported, some large, some small, such as, “I noticed in town yesterday more Chinese than I had seen for a long time.  I also noticed one crowd of intelligent men amusing themselves by throwing rubbish at them”.[footnoteRef:73]  [72:  Sydney Morning Herald, April 2, 1861, page 6.]  [73:  Sydney Morning Herald, May 31, 1861, page 5.] 

During a visit to Lambing Flat, Premier Charles Cowper made many statements supportive of the miners and the Chinese, including in his address to a large meeting, but when he returned to Sydney, his statements in the Legislative Assembly were totally different.  Not surprisingly, ‘Slippery Charlie’ was attacked by locals and Hux for his “misrepresentation”.[footnoteRef:74]  There was more serious trouble on the last day of June 1861, when thousands were involved; among other things, the Court House and Commissioners’ camp were burned down.[footnoteRef:75]  These riots were particularly bad for the Chinese, and no doubt they would have been worse but for the interventions of James Henley (Figure 14).  The petition to the government signed by fifty-one Chinese residents seeking an inquiry into the riot and a request for compensation for their losses almost certainly had the assistance of Henley (Figure 15).[footnoteRef:76] [74:  Sydney Morning Herald, March 8, 1861, page 5; April 2, 1861, page 6; April 9, 1861, page 3.]  [75:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 2, 1861, page 4; July 18, 1861, page 4.]  [76:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 13, 1861, page 5.  Carol Holsworth (2012): James McCulloch Henley: Anglo Chinese Linguist and Advocate in Victoria, New South Wales and Queensland.  Carol Holsworth, Bendigo.  Page 48.] 
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Figure 14. Sydney Morning Herald, July 13, 1861, page 5.
Hux was forced to move to Yass for a short time because of death threats from people who, not for the first time, did not like his reporting: but, as noted in the epigraph, he was fearless in his reporting and in its accuracy.[footnoteRef:77]  With far too few police and government officials to maintain law and  [77:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 20, 1861, page 8; July 22, 1861, page 4; March 6, 1862, page 5.] 
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Figure 15.  Petition to the Colonial Government regarding ‘Alleged Aggression on the Chinese at Back Creek and Lambing Flat’, on June 30, 1861.  NSW Votes and Proceedings of the Legislative Assembly, 1861-1862, Volume 2, page 9.  Government Printer, Sydney.  On pages 1-7, there were four other petitions regarding ‘Alleged Aggression upon Chinese at Lambing Flat’ from individual Chinese residents of Lambing Flat. 
order, many disturbances could not be dealt with.[footnoteRef:78]  The same observation applied to problems of management, though these were often the fault of the Government and its regulations, rather than the local officials (Figure 16). [footnoteRef:79]   [78:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 2, 1861, page 4; July 15, 1861, page 4; July 22, 1861, page 4.  The Government gave serious consideration to the imposition of Marshall Law.  “Martial Law. (Late Riots at Burrangong.)” NSW Votes and Proceedings of the Legislative Assembly, 1862, Volume II, pages 231-234.  Government Printer, Sydney.]  [79:  Sydney Morning Herald, December 13, 1861, page 8.] 
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Figure 16. Sydney Morning Herald, July 20, 1861, page 4.
The Sunday, June 30, 1861, riots were the last major disturbances in Lambing Flat.  True, there were on-going problems,[footnoteRef:80] but over the following months, the situation gradually improved, in no small measure due to some very good officials who worked in the district, such as Captain J.L. Wilkie, who  [80:   For example: “Sticking up appears to be still carried on with impunity, on the various roads leading to this place”, Sydney Morning Herald, September 30, 1861, page 5.] 
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Figure 17. Sydney Morning Herald, February 10, 1862, page 5. 
was highly regarded by everyone.  When he died suddenly, the town closed for the funeral, in which over 3,000 diggers marched, and large numbers lined the streets (Figure 17).[footnoteRef:81]  The improving situation in Lambing Flat may also have been helped by some miners moving to the newly opened Lachlan diggings (some 90 miles away) and to New Zealand, along with a greater number of miners from Victoria, “who, as a rule, look upon Commissioners’ decisions as final”.[footnoteRef:82]  And, it must be remembered, not all of the residents of Lambing Flat shared the views of what may have been the majority.[footnoteRef:83]   [81:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 10, 1862, page 5.]  [82:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 12, 1862, page 3.]  [83:  Letter by ‘Critique’ of Lambing Flat, Sydney Morning Herald, July 25, 1861, page 2. ] 

In amongst the accounts of continuing troubles, there was information on the gold mining areas and gold production, but European-Chinese relations and the persecution of the Chinese dominate Hux’s reports from Lambing Flat.  He deplored the lawless treatment of the Chinese, and in this he was fully supported by the editorial position of the Herald.[footnoteRef:84]  It was not that the anti-Chinese activities were unique to the Lambing Flat goldfields, but that, culminating in the June 30 riots, they were perhaps the worst experienced in Australia. [84:  For example, Sydney Morning Herald, July 20, 1861, page 4.] 

Along with those of the other ‘Special Commissioner’, the reports of Hux provide a valuable eye-witness account of one of the darkest chapters in Australia’s history, a chapter that has had a lasting impact.[footnoteRef:85]  But their views were not shared by other eye-witnesses, namely the Editor and others who worked for The Miner and General Advertiser, which was published in Lambing Flat from February 2, 1861, to November 13, 1861, and then in Forbes from December 4, 1861.[footnoteRef:86]  In his book, Country Conscience: a history of the New South Wales provincial press, 1841-1995, Kilpatrick provides a summary of the events, headed “The Black Mark of Disgrace: the press and the Lambing Flat riots”.[footnoteRef:87]  Yet “the press” is almost entirely limited to The Miner.  Apart from denials by The Miner of statements in the Herald, there were no references to any of Hux’s reports.  The summary by Kirkpatrick and the reports in The Miner, present a different ‘eye-witness’ picture to that of Hux. The Miner and its Editor were very supportive of the European miners and the Miners’ Protective League.  They were anti-Chinese and even more strongly opposed to continuing Chinese migration.  As well, they were strongly critical of the Colonial Government, the Fairfax company, and the Herald’s ‘Special Commissioner’.  The Herald was accused of inaccurate and misleading reporting.[footnoteRef:88]  The Miner’s reports of the “monster meetings” that took place are certainly different to those published in the Herald.[footnoteRef:89]  For a fuller story of Lambing Flat in 1860-1861, the accounts in both papers should perhaps be read. [85:  C.N. Connolly (1978): “Miners’ Rights”.  Pp. 35-47 in Who are our enemies? Racism and the Australian working class, edited by Ann Curthoys and Andrew Markus.  Hale & Iremonger, Sydney; R.B. Walker (1970): “Another look at the Lambing Flat Riots, 1860-1861”.  Royal Australian Historical Society Journal, 56, 193-205;
P. Selth (1974): “The Burrangong (Lambing Flat) Riots, 1860-61: a closer look”.  Royal Australian Historical Society Journal, 60, 48-69.  For recent comment, see Karen Schamberger (2015): ‘An Inconvenient Myth: the Lambing Flat Riots and the Birth of White Australia’.  ‘Foundational Histories’, Australian Historical Association Conference, University of Sydney, July 2015; Karen Schamberger (2017): “Difficult history in a local museum: the Lambing Flat Riots at Young, New South Wales”. Australian Historical Studies, 48, 436-441.]  [86:  There is an incomplete run of issues from February 2, 1861, to December 25, 1861.]  [87:  Rod Kirkpatrick (2000): Country Conscience: a history of the New South Wales provincial press, 1841-1995.  Infinite Harvest Publishing, Canberra, pages 39-45.]  [88:  An Editorial headed “The Unblushing ‘Herald’”, The Miner and General Advertiser, February 9, 1861, page 3.]  [89:  For example, The Miner and General Advertiser, March 3, 1861, page 3; April 3, 1861, page 3; July 6, 1861, page 3.] 

The Lachlan Diggings
From November 1861, to May 1862, before his work in Lambing Flat had finished, Hux was also reporting on the new gold mining locations in the Lachlan Valley, usually referred to as the ‘Lachlan Diggings’ or ‘The Lachlan’.  He wrote twenty-one articles about them (Appendix 4).  
The Lachlan Diggings were centred on Forbes, some 80 miles from Lambing Flat.  The distance and journey by way of Cowra did not give rise to any comment from him.  On his first visit, he was able to say that “The population is quiet and orderly”, a marked contrast to Lambing Flat.[footnoteRef:90]  However, with a population of some 10,000, he was nonetheless concerned at the limited number of police, as he was sure that management problems were going to cause “great trouble”, especially the frontage system of claims, before it was soon abandoned.[footnoteRef:91]  However, difficulties continued with the new Gold Fields Act.[footnoteRef:92] [90:  Sydney Morning Herald, November 11, 1861, page 2.]  [91:  Sydney Morning Herald, November 16, 1861, page 6; December 6, 1861, page 8; December 14, 1861, page 6.]  [92:  Sydney Morning Herald, April 24, 1862, page 5.] 

But in the absence of the kind of problems that had affected Lambing Flat (there are no references to Chinese miners in his reports), Hux was able to concentrate on the gold mining and production.  By late 1861 – early 1862, there was no doubt that the Lachlan was “an established and permanent gold-field”, but as to just how productive was still open to question.[footnoteRef:93]  Hux also reported that there were robberies, and the highway robbers Gardner and Ben Hall were active in the area.  A brief visit from Premier Charles Cowper left Hux and most local people wondering what he had come for.[footnoteRef:94]  Still, there was much mining activity, some large gold finds had been made, and the town of Forbes was booming.[footnoteRef:95]  And being the reporter he was, it is not surprising that “Mr. Hux of the Herald” received a very complimentary mention in a letter by ‘Cosmopolite’ to The Empire on the Lachlan Diggings (Figure 18).[footnoteRef:96] [93:  Sydney Morning Herald, February 10, 1862, page 5.]  [94:  Sydney Morning Herald, May 16, 1862, page 5.]  [95:  Sydney Morning Herald, April 14, 1862, page 5.]  [96:  Empire, December 4, 1861, page 8.] 
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Figure 18. The Empire, December 4, 1861, page 8.
A resident of Lambing Flat
Hux’s reporting for the Sydney Morning Herald came to an end in May-June 1862.  A column in the Herald in late June referred to “Mr. John A. Hux, for many months our Special Commissioner on the Gold Fields, a gentleman who has been residing on the Lachlan or Lambing Flat Gold Fields as Correspondent for this journal ever since the latter was opened”.[footnoteRef:97]  After this, he wrote two ‘Letters to the Editor’ of the Sydney Morning Herald, and though on specific topics, they also provide some details of his work as a reporter (Appendix 5).  Both were written from Lambing Flat, indicating that he had remained in the town.[footnoteRef:98] [97:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 21, 1862, page 7.]  [98:  Sydney Morning Herald, June 18, 1862, page 2; October 3, 1862, page 8.] 

In late 1862, he had a change of career, taking over ‘The Albion Commercial and Family Hotel’ in Lambing Flat.  Over thirty advertisements for his business appeared in the Sydney Morning Herald and the Sydney Mail between October 1862 and May 1863 (Figure 19).[footnoteRef:99]  An advertisement for the 1863 ‘Burrangong Annual Races’ included ‘Mr. J.A. Hux’ in the list of stewards.[footnoteRef:100]  Just how long he stayed there is not known, but a letter by Hux from Lambing Flat headed ‘Sir Frederick Pottinger’ appeared in the Sydney Morning Herald in July 1863.[footnoteRef:101] [99:  Sydney Morning Herald, October 11, 1862, page 3; Sydney Mail, May 16, 1863, page 1.]  [100:  Bell’s Life in Sydney and Sporting Chronicle, April 25, 1863, page 3.]  [101:  Sydney Morning Herald, July 25, 1863, page 7; Sydney Mail, August 1, 1863, page 10; Armidale Express, August 1, 1863, page 4.  Hux wrote in support of Pottinger, a senior police officer, who been the subject of statements in the Legislative Council which were incorrect and without foundation; they related to events that had taken place in the Lachlan district, o which Hux had personal knowledge and experience.] 
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Figure 19. Sydney Morning Herald, October 11, 1862, page 3.
A short but active life
Prior to settling in Lambing Flat, Hux, like so many of his time and especially those associated with gold mining, was almost constantly on the move, travelling widely in eastern Australia, from Melbourne in the south to the Fitzroy River in the north.  Yet even his ‘settled’ time in Lambing Flat was not long, as at some time in the latter part of 1863, he moved to Surry Hills in Sydney.  What he did on moving to Sydney is not known, but it is unlikely to have been a move he would have wanted.  As it happened, it was his last move.  After a “long and severe illness” that lasted about twelve months, he died of heart disease on April 21, 1864, aged 38, at the home of his sister, Mrs. Mary Connolly, on South Head Road (Figure 21).[footnoteRef:102]  He was buried on April 23 in the Randwick Cemetery.  On his death certificate, his occupation was listed as ‘Publican’. [102:  Sydney Morning Herald, April 22, 1864, page 1; May 21, 1864, page 7; Death Certificate, Registration No. 1864/000508.  See also records of ‘Burials in the Parish of Randwick in the County of Cumberland, New South Wales, in the Year 1864’, for the Church of St Jude, Randwick.] 

Conclusion
This account of the life and work of John Augustus Hux came about as a consequence of research for a biography of Charles Edward de Boos, triggered by the family connections between de Boos and Hux.  Until the research was undertaken, the contribution of John Augustus Hux to the writings on the Australian goldfields of the mid-nineteenth century had been unknown.
Despite their wealth of information, very little use has been made of Hux’s writings as a primary source of historical material.  This is true even for local studies of Kiandra and Young (Lambing Flat).
Like Charles de Boos, Frederick Dalton and other reporters of his time, he had travelled widely within Australia.  Whilst not as large a contributor as de Boos or even Dalton, his writings are of equal value.  Like them, he was a keen observer and an accurate and fearless reporter.  From Kiandra, he provided first-hand accounts of living and mining in such an isolated location, with its ever-present hazardous weather.  His reports from Lambing Flat (along with those of the unknown ‘Special Commissioner’ who preceded him) are of particular value as a first-hand record of the disturbances and anti-Chinese riots that made such a mark on racial relations in Colonial Australia and the country’s subsequent history. 
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Figure 21.  Copy of John Hux’s Death Certificate.  NSW Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages, Sydney.
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Appendix 1.  Miscellaneous Writings, 1858-1861.

	Newspaper
	Date
	Page
	Title and other details

	Sydney Morning Herald
	October 12, 1858
	5
	“The Fitzroy Gold-fields”. Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	October 13, 1858
	5
	“The Fitzroy Diggings”.  Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	February 25, 1860
	9
	“The Victoria Gold-fields”. Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	March 13, 1860
	13
	“The gold-fields of New South Wales compared with those of Victoria”. Letter to the Editor.

	The Age
	April 26, 1860
	4
	“The decrease in the yield of gold”.  Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	June 8, 1860
	2
	“Reminiscences of a Gold-Digger. The Rockhampton Rush”

	Sydney Morning Herald
	August 27, 1860
	3
	‘Snowy River Diggings’. Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Mail
	September 1, 1860
	3
	“Gold digging at the Snowy River”. Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	September 10, 1860
	3
	“The gold-fields of New South Wales”. Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Mail
	October 27, 1860
	3
	“Emma Westan, a Tale of Australia, founded on fact”, Chapters One, Two and Three.

	Sydney Mail
	November 3, 1860
	3
	“Emma Westan, a Tale of Australia, founded on fact”, Chapter Four.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	November 8, 1860
	2
	“Graves at Kiandra”. (1)

	Sydney Mail
	November 10, 1860
	2
	“Emma Westan, a Tale of Australia, founded on fact”, Chapters Five, Six, and Seven.

	Sydney Morning Herald
	December 7, 1860
	2
	“A summer-day’s ramble through Kiandra”. (2)

	Sydney Morning Herald
	March 1, 1861
	8
	“The Chinese Question”.  Letter to the Editor.

	Sydney Mail
	March 9, 1861
	2
	“Extracts from my Note Book, Nos. I and II”.

	Sydney Mail
	March 16, 1861
	2
	“Extracts from my Note Book, No. III, IV, and V”. (3)



(1) Re-published in The Sydney Mail, November 17, 1860, page 6; Launceston Examiner, November 20, 1860, page 2; Twofold Bay Telegraph, November 27, 1860, page 3; Cornwall Chronicle (Launceston), December 15, 1860, page 2.
(2) Re-published in The Sydney Mail, December 8, 1860, page 2.
(3) All extracts re-published in the Sydney Morning Herald, March 18,1861, page 2.


Appendix 2. ‘Reminiscences of a Gold-Digger’ by ‘J.A.H.’, Sydney Morning Herald, 1860-1861.
	Date
	Page
	Sub-headings
	Published in other papers

	April 20
	2
	
	

	May 11
	2
	
	Mount Alexander Mail, May 25, page 7

	May 30
	2
	
	

	June 1
	2
	
	The Age, June 12, page 7

	June 5
	5
	
	

	June 13
	10
	
	

	July 3
	5
	
	

	July 7
	4
	
	

	August 29
	5
	
	Sydney Mail, September 1, page 2; Examiner (Kiama), September 8, 1860, page 4; Clarence & Richmond Examiner, September 11, 1860, page 4; Mount Alexander Mail, September 14, 1860, page 7.

	February 15
	2
	Part I
	Sydney Mail, February 16, page 2; Mount Alexander Mail, March 15, page 7.

	March 4
	2
	Part II
	Sydney Mail, March 2, page 2; Mount Alexander Mail, March 22, page 7.



Appendix 3. Hux on Kiandra, Sydney Morning Herald, 1860-1861.
	Date
	Page
	Title
	Published in other papers

	September 28
	5
	En Route to Kiandra
	

	October 11
	10 (2 items)
	Latest from Kiandra
	“News from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, October 13, 1860, page 5.

	October 13
	7
	Kiandra
	

	October 17
	5
	Kiandra
	“Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, October 20, 1860, page 8.

	October 20
	4
	Kiandra
	

	October 22
	4 (2 items)
	Kiandra
	“Gold news from Kiandra’, Sydney Mail, October 27, 1860, page 6.

	October 23
	4
	Kiandra
	

	October 27
	8
	Kiandra
	“Latest from Kiandra’, Sydney Mail, October 27, 1860, page 4.

	November 2
	8
	Kiandra
	By “Our Special Correspondent’.  “Latest from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, November 3, 1860, page 5.

	November 7
	8
	Kiandra
	“Gold News. Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, November 10, 1860, page 3.

	
	
	
	“Latest from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, November 10, 1860, page 5.

	November 12
	4
	Kiandra
	

	November 14
	5
	Kiandra
	

	November 17
	7
	Kiandra
	“Latest from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, November 17, 1860, page 4.

	November 26
	5
	Kiandra
	“Gold News. Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, December 1, 1860, page 3.

	November 27
	3
	Kiandra
	

	November 29
	3
	Kiandra
	“Latest from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, December 1, 1860, page 4.

	December 1
	6
	Kiandra
	

	December 5
	4
	Kiandra
	

	December 7
	5
	Kiandra
	“Latest from Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, December 8, 1860, page 4.

	December 8
	5
	Kiandra
	

	December 12
	5
	Kiandra
	“Gold News. Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, December 15, 1860, page 2.

	December 14
	4
	Kiandra
	

	December 15
	6
	Kiandra
	

	December 18
	9
	Kiandra
	“Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, December 22, 1860, page 4.

	December 22
	5
	Kiandra
	

	December 24
	4
	Kiandra
	

	December 31
	5
	Kiandra
	“Gold News. Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, January 5, 1861, page 2.

	January 2
	5
	Kiandra
	

	January 8
	5
	Kiandra
	“Gold News. Kiandra”, Sydney Mail, January 12, 1861, page 6.

	January 14
	3
	Kiandra
	“I purpose leaving this place to-morrow [January 8] for Lambing Flat”.

	January 19
	5
	Kiandra
	Written on January 13.  Sydney Mail, January 26, 1861, page 8.



Appendix 4. Hux on Lambing Flat, Sydney Morning Herald, 1861-1862.
	April 2
	6
	Lambing Flat: Great Monster Meeting on the Chinese Question

	April 9
	3
	Lambing Flat

	April 12
	8
	Lambing Flat

	April 15
	2
	Lambing Flat

	April 19
	8
	Lambing Flat

	April 26
	5
	Lambing Flat

	May 2
	8
	Lambing Flat

	May 7
	3 and 4
	Lambing Flat

	May 11
	7
	Lambing Flat

	May 14
	4
	Lambing Flat

	May 17
	4
	Lambing Flat

	May 21
	13
	Lambing Flat

	May 22
	4
	Lambing Flat

	May 24
	4
	Lambing Flat

	May 25
	5
	Lambing Flat

	May 28
	4
	Lambing Flat

	May 31
	5
	Lambing Flat

	June 1
	4
	Lambing Flat

	June 5
	3
	Lambing Flat

	June 8
	4
	Lambing Flat

	June 17
	5
	Lambing Flat

	June 18
	4
	Lambing Flat

	June 21
	3
	Lambing Flat

	June 25
	4
	Lambing Flat

	June 28
	8
	Lambing Flat

	July 2
	4
	Lambing Flat

	July 4
	4
	Lambing Flat

	July 9
	5 and 4
	Lambing Flat. Includes a copy of a long letter from ‘James McCulloch Henley, Anglo-Chinese Linguist’, on behalf of the Chinese, to the Governor, Sir John Young. Together, the report and letter provide a detailed account of the dreadful treatment of the Chinese miners.

	July 15
	4
	Lambing Flat

	July 17
	4
	“Riot at Lambing Flat.  Fatal Collision between Rioters and Police” (from Burrangong)

	July 18
	4
	Lambing Flat.  Yass

	July 20
	4
	Yass

	July 22
	4
	Yass

	July 30
	4
	Yass

	August 1
	4
	Yass: Roberts’ Station.

	August 5
	4
	Lambing Flat

	August 6
	4 (two reports)
	Lambing Flat

	August 8
	4
	Lambing Flat

	August 9
	8
	Lambing Flat

	August 13
	4
	Lambing Flat

	August 14
	5
	Lambing Flat

	August 17
	4
	Lambing Flat

	August 19
	4
	Lambing Flat

	August 20
	4 and 5
	Lambing Flat

	August 21
	6-7
	Riot at Lambing Flat. Extended account of court case.

	August 23
	5
	Lambing Flat

	August 24
	4 
	Lambing Flat

	August 30
	4 and 5
	Lambing Flat

	September 2
	8 and 4
	Lambing Flat

	September 4
	5
	Lambing Flat

	September 9
	5
	Burrangong: Police Court

	September 16
	2
	Lambing Flat

	September 24
	5
	Lambing Flat

	September 30
	5
	Lambing Flat

	October 3
	8
	Lambing Flat

	October 12
	7
	Lambing Flat

	October 16
	3
	Lambing Flat

	October 19
	5
	Lambing Flat

	October 22
	5
	Lambing Flat

	October 24
	2
	Lambing Flat: Police Court

	November 16
	4 and 6
	Lambing Flat

	February 10
	5
	“The Death of Captain J.L. Wilkie, of H.M. 12th Regiment”.

	February 10
	5
	Lambing Flat: includes material on Lachlan Diggings

	February 12 
	3
	Lambing Flat

	February 18
	3
	Lambing Flat

	March 1
	5
	Lambing Flat

	March 4
	2
	Lambing Flat

	March 6
	5
	Lambing Flat

	March 10
	5
	Lambing Flat: Police Court

	March 15
	4-5
	“Lambing Flat. Highway Robbery by Gardiner and his Mates”; Police Court

	March 21
	3
	Lambing Flat



Appendix 4.  Hux on the Lachlan Diggings, Sydney Morning Herald, 1861-1862.
	Date
	Page
	Title

	November 11
	2
	Lachlan Diggings

	November 16
	6
	Included in Lambing Flat

	November 26
	4
	Lachlan Diggings

	November 28
	5
	The Lachlan

	November 29
	4
	Lachlan Diggings

	December 3
	4
	Lachlan Diggings

	December 4
	5
	The Lachlan

	December 6
	8
	Lachlan Diggings

	December 13
	8
	Lachlan

	December 14
	6
	Lachlan

	December 27
	4
	Lachlan

	January 7
	4
	The Lachlan

	January 16
	2
	The Lachlan

	January 23
	5
	Lachlan

	February 10
	5
	Lambing Flat: includes comments on the Lachlan Diggings

	April 14
	5
	The Lachlan

	April 24
	5
	The Lachlan

	May 1
	2
	The Lachlan

	May 8
	8
	Lachlan

	May 16
	5
	The Lachlan



Appendix 5. Hux’s last writings: ‘Letters to the Editor’ of the Sydney Morning Herald, 1862-1863.
	Date
	Page
	Title

	June 18, 1862
	2
	“The Escort Robbery”

	October 3, 1862
	8
	“Bridges and Post-Office, Lambing Flat”

	July 25, 1863
	7
	“Sir Frederick Pottinger”
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REMINISCENSES OF A GOLD-DIGGER.
Tus RockRanrron Kusa
BranG In Byduey tor neveral mont b, s simast for getting
my wandering ite on the Vietor's goid-feids, 1 was fast
Decomis g & respeciabie or settled man—at lowst, no my
friends Gaed to say—until the rush took jlace to Lhat g
posed Northern F1 Dorads, Port Coris . thes all my
Latiut iheoughte and idess wers Agaio bronght wn play, and
With * Auri sacia fumes® pog-eoncd by #0 many, [ »0 nre-
sclved to Tuy malie thome hubiidwonts and man ers s
necessery to 8 life iu town. ard onoe more tey to win the
faviurs of 1has fiokle jate Fortuve by those very ancia t
and  clusical implments the  piek  and ahovel
! wes not cariied away wi h the very goldeu dredim that
afivcted 80 mary st thet time, for [ had hat some
ccLsernbie expeite; oo fu go'd-diagii & 2l koew somio.
thing of its bardstips and tnoonver loncea; and ary Teparta
trat mey sppear with vespect to go'd-flolds | a'w.ys look
bpon with a vegree of dow it and hestaton having foana
Loy expenicies that the reanty iy very A e i bat of
Tdio rot expect 1o Hid & very riod fie 4 thoaghl 1t might
possibly be w puyadle ore aid lead to ather rasnics, i€ not
wrived by the pek and shovel. | was un<ble to make
wiat little nrrar gements were necens.ry bel re the Evgle
ateauar etaitad on her fisst trip to Rookhampivn, a.d
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1aat, nud to s direot question put to him stated that he.. .
Wales | knew of no other gold-field, that that was the place” 4
be had found gold, and no other; but that if 20 or 30 -
.| diggers would form-a party, and_guaranteo him bis
expensos, he would go and prospect with them, Ani
he had no doubt but that they would find arother field, .
but nothing was done—men began to got tred and. duc
termiaed to leave, . 3 i
On thatevening and the following day, npwards of
300men left the diggings ; I have seen meny bad ficlds,
but this beat all—yon could not got anything for teat
of tooli—my party made. up their minds to leave,
nd endesvovred to got someshing for  oue
tents and tools, which cost some £10 in Bydney,snd
| ould not sell them ; had we have staid x dsy Jonger
it @8 powiblo we might hav got a few suillings o
them ; but rather tasn do this, we gave them away, g
Wales | did plenty of others. Men were to be seen in all dirsos.
"7 | tions begging a few ahillings for 1ools that had cost.
+ |pounds. “Any peraon mignt have loaded n driy with
+ | Gotline’ mew picks, shotols, tin dishes, and tools of all. .-
s+ | kinds, for 1s. each ; and then the rosd down to Rocka, .
| Bampton was strewed with all kinds of tools; men .
wtralia | that could not get anything for them, sttempted to
carry them down, and what with the heat of the sun 7
+ [snd footsors as they were, “gradually threw, them .~
Sound | away to fighten their “swags.”” The road is clesrly
2750 arked ol the way with- Bicke, aherrne potn ooy
cradlen, in fact, every thing you can think that mea had
suned | certied up, together with all articles of clothing.; dnd
s un- | ¥hen we arrived in Rookhampton, it was a perfect
vera! | $aBVas-town. There wero four vessels Iying there—the
their [ Swan, Cyclone, Jone, Staghound loading—1 may say
those | 108d¢d, for the people got-on board and whald not Ky
onfit | ff—crowded to excess ; men begging 1o pay & pound
d at | O t¥0 to_be allowedto lay on the deck s in fach T ..
ience { Souldcontinue tbia alréady (00 long leiter wizh suchy ’2}
The “;:l:.,Mt of distress that would estonish the Bydney . o ¢
i N . .
0k |” X may conclude Uy atatiog ihet the Wiaesh had to
iners, | P4t inio Moeton Buy, and wo jearnt that they had.'
laarat | §9% wnch socounts of the disiress at Rookhamptan,
tha they had ready commoneed a public subscription
{ the | o8 their behalf, and that’ sbout £100had been sub.
aver, | #5ibed—Judge Milford heading the list with £10, )
orge. |  Tsball be very lad to give any ono any other in - 2
“con- | formation’ that T possibly can, ‘and beg to subscribe

f,
o JOHN A. HUX..

Tme |- 93, Bouth Hosd Road, Ostober 1oy
ntof | O OF BN e e e i i
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To the Editor of the Herald.

£15,—1f yon refer to the Melbourss Wekxty Aax, of
Friday, I8 y 20, 1860, under the heating of “ Literatara’®
you will fiid & long story (Reminlsosnces of & Golde
digger) copled from your valnable publieation, they not
baving the bonesty to moknowledge where they ot It
from, ar of placiug the Initials of the sothor to It.” Haviny

became acquainted with bim aboat two years backen hig
visit to Brdcey, I am able to state all those gold. digger's
yATUA besring ture are founded on fuot, sad oare
Waly original. Tieing & constant reader, and looking for
more af them, and yon nab baving taken aay notios of the
pimey, (LABIEk you all it T Gk i osly st tash yo

8 well ag “JCA H," sbould Iave what in eqmmon
courtery Is your due, ¥
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That nothing should be wanted to complete vur hap-
iness, telegraphic communication with Sydney hus
een interrupted the last two days ; so we have not
even had the sati-faction of letting our friends there
know how truly jully we are, for I feel certain they
must envy the delightful advantages this place
€sses in the summer season over Sydney; for in
place of having to pay for iced creams, we can umuse
ourselves with snow balls and brandy hot.

(FROM OUR CORRESPONDENT.)

little of consequence occurred. | M




image10.png
KIANDRA,
[PROM OUR BPECIAL COMMISSIONER |
.November 15.

It would seem that this place is never to be favoured
with a continuation of fine weather, I scarce close a
letter or send a telegram to you stating the weather
to be fine, but some sudden change takes place.
Last Saturday was quite a summer’s day, and the
next morning, to the astonishment of all, the eround
was covered with snow, the barometer being as low
#s 31 degrees.  This continued until noon on Mon.
day, when it cleared up, and we were favoure{ with
summer weather again. It would be very difficult to
convince any person arriving here the next day that
twenty-four hours previously we had been visited
with frost and snow. To-day it commenced raining,
and up to the present time (nine p.m) it still con-
tinues. although to-morrow may be a fine day.

This uncertsinty of the weather tends .renl{"m
gnven! the development of these fields ; mauny here

ave been waiting for months expecting fine westher,
which sppears now to be as far off as ever. That
mhen should get dispirited, disheartened, and leave,
pise no one.  During this week we have had

2T SN o sy | e
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ALPINE' PIONEER, FRIDAY, DECEMBER 2, 1880.

T NEW YEARS- DAY SPORTSII|
B. BENJAMIN, :

oK MEW TEARS DAYV
Jumping in Sacks.

S Foot Race.
T cowmns. et
mbing n Grenasy Pole.
o it ok i £1

‘Amateur Foot Race.

100 yar; bost; for
«

10 gus. Pt
Jumping Match.

Tor st Staning Jump.  Priso—2.

Winkling the Bell.

P g
Blind Wheelbarrow Race.

200 yards, Prise—g2.
Hack Race.

i Colonislmadn Sudd, Vi, €5, post troce.
Wrestling Match.

Quoits, Skittles, and Boxing Gloves.
Cricket Bats, &e.,

Provide e el th Jvers f 1 game
Luncheon will be Frovided Free.
TITE MONSTER JAND will b instendsncs ol day

- HURRAH

NEW YEARS DAY!! NEW YEARS DAY!!

"FOR THE RACES!!

& On the Race Gofse, near the Tumut Brids
KIANDRA RACES, ON THE Isr OF JANUARY, 18611!!!

REILLY and CARMICHAEL.

JUDGE.
7. 1. Cise, B, COS0.T.
STEWARDS
Mr. Horton
i
Gonttion

&g, e, 32

CLERK OF THE COURSE—~G., Fhaan, o STATTER.~Commisionce Cssks.

Saddle and Bridle.

o al o lkBorse habhava neven won s sdvetived peiz. Value—10.  Mile hets; pot ntrace.
Tac for 230, for ol hore; Ml bt
Harny Soury o Swoipetabes sod £5 sdded, Batrasco 0n.; 3o hests
VRESTLING, ~Deren s e sy, collagand b, €3
OOT 1ACE:—Far amatea orly. 100 7 &5
e 3 4, . bih, T :

HURDLE RACS

e,
3 ROKS 00 yurd; 12, RULES:
New Soith Waik Johey-Cloh gioky Mo . T oo ths s

1o o faal* All uivios o be mad o tho grousd
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> mPRBSENTALlON. . .
REVIOUS T departure our special commi-
sioner, Mr. John A, Hux, from the Snowy Riw
diggings for Lambing Flat, the following letter v
presented to him, together with five very besstifi

A By
“ Dear 8ir,—On the eve o(yurm!h

“Asa hnokuo:l:urqulﬂi(:
trust you ccom nugges
014, with our sinoape wishes for Jout fere ¥ale

* 'We remasin, dear Bir,

*“ Yours very truly, :
“W. Davimowp Fisuxs, for self and tweaty-nt
others.”
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These ervors cause much annoyaace.

The Miners' Protective League have issusd their
prospectus. Theobjects to be dealt with are, first
and principal question—Expulsion of the Chinese,
The League call upon men of every nation except
Chinese to join their society. Repeal of the Gold
Duty. Palice protection, which they say is merely
nominal at present, Unlocking the public lands,
Promulgation of the word of God throughout the
mining districts of the colony.  Protecticn to native
industry. Representation of mining interests, based
on population.

The men charged with the murderous assaul have
been identified Ly one of the unfortunate men .

tive oby
of thes
structe
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snd in
& circle
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by stes
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G
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ihe poor fellow's head,

They then proceeded to the main camp of the
Chinese, at Back Creck, and there no pen can write
with sufficient horror the brutality practised vpon
these poor harmless, but more persevering fellows—
more honest and more pn-oveﬂng than many of those
who were hunting them, and eall themselves raen.

Here they bumed and plundered ell they coald find,
riding them down, cutting their pockets ovt, and
teking all they had. One instance of brutelity [ saw,
it was that of a woman, the wite of & Chinaman, she
had a poor little baby in a cradle; they burnt the tont
wnd even set £re to the le in which the poor little
thing was asleep, and if it had not have beco for the
Chinese interpreter (a Mr. Henley), they would have
even committed the same atrocities on her,

On Monday moerning, there wers t-yelvo hundred
Chinese cut at a Mr. Roberts’ s19%ion, three miles
from the ; they had neither “ents, bedding, nor
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egislative Sagembiy.
NEW SOUTH WALES.

ALLEGED AGGRESSION ON CHINESE AT BACK CREEK
AND LAMBING FLAT.

(CHINESE GOLD DIGGEES, &)

Ordered by the Legisiative Assembly 1o be Printed, 26 Novenber, 1861,

To the Honorsbl the Legisltive Aseably of New South Wales, in Parliament sssrbled.
The humble Petton of the wodersigaed Chinese Gold Diggers, Miners, Store-
and other Ohiness Resident, at aod i the neigh! of Back
Creek aad Laabing Flat, i the Colony of New Soath Wales,—
‘Resenorrouoy Srarasi—

That your Petitoners, before and up to Sunday, the thirteth day of Juxe lst, wero
‘pescefully engaged (within the limits assigoed to them) in the oocotions o gold miniog,
storekesping, aud other lawful employments at and in the neighbourhood of Hack Crsek
and Lambiog Flat afoseaid.

That on the st mentioned ds certain of the gold. iggers and other evil disposed
‘persons esident at sod ear Laubing Flat toressid itowsly ascembled in large mumbers,
o0 foot and on Borsback, aod being armcd with frearms and otber weans, attseked. your
Puitoners, and, sfte baving besten aed otberwise rselly illrated your Peiione, drore
thea from the sid diggings.

That youe Petitoners were, at tho time aforssid, possessed of personl property and
lfctaof grea valus but to savs thele livesyour Petitoners were compeled o give up and
sbandon their mid property and effts, which were Immediately sppropristed by their
asnallats, or wantoaly oc malicously desroged by fire.

That your Petitoners were at all times pror o the sxid ttack quiotsod ardely fa
the ounduct, ad. hed in il respeots complid with the Goversmeat segultions.

That your Petitoners, by the means aforcesid, bave been educed tos tale f complets
destitution, nd have no mests of pursuiog or bringiog to justics the persons engaged i the
outrages afress

Your Peitoners, therefor, humbly prey’that dus inqaley may be made fato-the
matters aforssid, and thet your Hoorsble House will take sach steps to radress the
grierances abore compliaed of a5 to you sbhall seem e

Aod your Potitionses, s ia daty bound, willsve prsy, &o.

Dated this sesnteenth dag of Septemder, 4.D. 1861,

[Here fllow 51 Signature
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The Government have been very liberal in their
arrangement in suspending two commissioners for net
stopping the riot that occurred on the 30th ultime,
Itis to be hoped by this time they better andes.
stand thesc fields, and see that the commis.
sioners acted with great discretion. If the
Government will be advised at all, let them
send commissioners enough to attend to the disputes
that they will certainly be called upon to settle on the
arrival of the forces. I must send my opinion even
at the risk of great displeasure of many on Lambiag
Flat. The Chinese must be reinstated at all costs,
and the law upheld, and then any Legislative enact.
ment can be enforced. At present they are entitled,
holding their miner’s right as they do, to the same
protection as others. If the (rovernment do not take
these steps the Chinese question will be a source of
trouble and expense to the country for many months
to come. I have sent repested warnings with respoet
to these fields, and it will yet be found without these
steps are adopted the country will suffer from the '
vecillation of our present Government.
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the sterling worth of the deceased.

Huin‘ had the pleasure of knowing the late
Captain Wilkie intimately during his residence wpon
tkis fleld, 1 am bound to state—knowing his very
sensitive feelings, the position he held here, the treat-
ment he received, the annoyance he was subjected to
by those holding higher rank than himself, disturbed
his mind and him greatly, he bore all without
& murmur, often in my presence saying he would
outlive all such petty annoyances and jealousies. I
am sadly afraid such was not the case, and that he let
them him to an extent far greater than he liked
2o admit, and thus in a8 measure accelerating his death,

1
‘- “'l.n%.:-?\llg.c :{:ho-‘ t.‘:,..‘:qk‘:.. .Y} ich was held

ot e
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Dave ruied the ges'inies Of Lambing rial,

The river establishment at present consists of four
commissioners and one clerk (san immense p:rsonsge,
by.the-bye, and quite the ‘'  card ” of the pariy), two or
three subordimates of some legalised gold-bvying firm,
Count Keleski (e distinguished Pole), and Mr, ux of
the Herald, who can thas bring to bear npon his corres.
pondence s knowledge of Government measures both in
toue o8 woll as in esse, which of course is unsttainable

y journalistic stars of smaller magnitude.
An esoor' is being established u, @ somewbst extra.

andie oo Seolble o T aosd ambdabs s Yhatflad Bocasldis
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HE ALBION COMMERCIAL AND FAMILY
H(Ll'll. :.::81?.0 l;l;:.'l'.—b{‘(:ﬂﬂ A. n&:x
Lege to inform iends an publio gemerally that,
RSt for e rocoption o Tamlio snd genilozen
now " rece) temen
viriting this district. m
JOHN A. HUX flatters himself, from his knowledge of
the requirements f an haotel on the diggings, that the
Albion will be found by those lnvunr‘lx it with their
patronage, o first-class house, and the hotel of the distriot.
T he best liquors procurable io Sydney will be found only
at the Albion.
Private roome for families and gentlemen.
A Table d'Hote daily, with every delicacy in season,
The billiard-room i furnished "with one of Thurston's
best tables.
‘The metropoliten and most of the provincial papers
regularly taken.
irst-class stabling.
The Albion Hotel ia in the wost central part of the town-
ship, near the Banks, and corper of Maia aud Burrowa
etreets, Lambing Flat.

FJY K. COATES, Importer of China, Ginss, and Barth-

EZZ il
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[By Eumcrmic Trerzemarn )
YASS,
[rroM ovR sPECIAL coMmissraxER ]
Saturday, 11.30 p.m,

I learn that since the authorities have left L:
Flat, a Vigilance Committee has been established, aad
every endeavour made to_cast a slur on official pro-
ceedings. A meeting was held, the Coroner, Dr,
Falder, in the chair. Numerous resolutions wers
curied. How any one holding a Government sp.
pointment could so far forget his position as to take
such steps is & matter of surprise to many. The mob
hvh.ul-uuhvhwmd:ownhuds.hh'-
rally hoped the Government will this time sssert theic
suthority, Martial law, I hear, is to be proclaimed,
and no comcession of any kind made until the
law is vindicated. It will be, I have not the shadew
of s doubt, the policy of the Government to sacrifics
every officer connected with these flelds ; it may do
80, but public opinion will yet show that they have
not only acted with discretion but coursge sad
valour. I only wish it were possible for the Execu.
tive to know the proceedings as I do, and I feel fully
sssured that they could not withhold their thanks,

Affairs are in such a state st the Fiat that itls
dangerous for any one to give their opinions with
Tespect to the proceedings that have taken place;
but I will state my opinions, without fear or favoue,
let the result be whet it may,

Up to the preseat ﬁ_-‘.-uly_

fow police baw
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